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1
Summary

Three trenches were excavated to characterise and evaluate the archaeological survival at the site. Three Roman inhumations were recorded that were sealed, and partially truncated by, a re-worked agricultural horizon. Post-Roman agricultural deposits included a ditch and a series of planting trenches. This agricultural horizon was cut by foundation trenches for 18th and 19th century houses, but many of these were heavily truncated by more modern foundations and service trenches. Limited watching brief was also carried out during removal of buried obstructions (wall foundations etc.). This activity did not reveal any archaeological remains.
2
INTRODUCTION
2.1
Site Location (Figure 1)
The site is centred at TQ 3225 7970 on the south side of Lant Street, with Borough High Street to the east and Southwark Bridge Road to the west. The site is within an Archaeological Priority Zone as defined in the London Borough of Southwark Unitary Development Plan.

2.2
Planning Background

A planning application has been submitted for the demolition and subsequent redevelopment of the site at 52-56 Lant Street, Southwark, including the provision of a basement car park (Ref. TP1460-52, Reg. 202012). As a condition, an archaeological evaluation of the site prior to development was requested by London Borough of Southwark Senior Archaeological Officer (Ms Sarah Gibson), to define the character, extent and survival of any archaeological remains on the site. The information from the evaluation will be used to identify potential options for minimising or avoiding damage to any archaeological remains. A Brief for the archaeological evaluation was prepared by the LB Southwark Senior Archaeology Officer (Gibson 2004), which formed the basis for a Written Scheme of Investigation. This outlined how the evaluation, comprising three trial trenches, would be undertaken.
A geotechnical survey (AOC 2003) carried out on the site has shown that made ground, containing cultural material (see below) overlies the natural gravel/sand at a height of between 1-1.50m AOD.

2.3
Geology and Topography

The Site lies within the London or Thames Basin, which developed mainly during the late Palaeogene and early Neogene periods (between 30 and 20 million years ago). It was created during a series of major earth movements which also resulted in the formation of the Alps and the uplift of much of Britain (Geological Survey of Great Britain, Sheet 256; Sumbler 1996).   

Between 350,000 and 135,000 years ago the Thames and its tributaries became established in their present valleys. One of the main geological results of this period in the Thames valley was the formation of a series of river terraces on either side of the main channel. This process was caused by cycles of deposition and erosion, influenced by the upward ‘tilt’ of southern Britain (Gibbard 1985; Sumbler 1996). 

At least six major river terraces have been identified in the Thames valley in the London area and within these broad divisions localised river terrace horizons have been identified. The most recent of these major terraces (and thus the lowest) is known as the ‘Lower Flood Plain Terrace’. It formed during the final cold period between about 70,000 and 13,000 years ago and in the London area is composed of the Shepperton Gravel. This forms the present bank of the Thames and the floor of its valley (Sumbler 1996).

The site is situated south of the southern edge of the Thames alluvial flood plain, and exists on river terraced gravels overlying Woolwich and Reading Beds. The closest gravel eyot is situated approximately 250 metres to the north of the site. Geotechnical investigations undertaken on the site were confirmed by the evaluation.

2.4 Historical and Archaeological Background.
Information on the site has been collated through desk-based assessment and previous excavations in Southwark.

Prehistoric (before c. AD 43)

The gravel terraces and alluvial lowlands are likely to have provided an attractive prospect for prehistoric peoples, situated as they were close to reliable sources of water. Indeed, there is an abundance of artefactual evidence of earlier prehistoric activity in the area, although the focus of this has either been removed by later disturbance or awaits discovery. For the most part, the remains of occupation date to the Late Bronze and Iron Ages.

An arrowhead from the Neolithic period represents the earliest find encountered within 200m of the site, recovered from Borough High Street. Further discoveries include a late prehistoric channel to the northeast of the site. Residual Bronze Age lithics and occasional potsherds found at Swan Street, to the east, suggest prehistoric activity/ settlement in the vicinity of the site. 

Periods of marine regression created small sand and gravel eyots above the surrounding marsh, which would have been ideal temporary camps for fishing, trapping and hunting expeditions

Roman (c. AD 43 - 450)
During the Roman Conquest the invading army recognised and began to develop the strategic potential of the area. Southwark provided the first place upriver on the Thames where it was possible to construct a harbour and a bridge, which could be reached by road from the major invasion entry points on the coast. Three military roads converged on Southwark; one of these, Stane Street, led from the Sussex coast at Chichester/ Fishbourne, and its course is approximately that of present day Borough High Street to Tooting, traces of which have been found under buildings on Borough High Street and the buried road surface directly under Newington Causeway. The building of a military supply base at Southwark began c. AD 50 and by the end of the first century AD the settlement had become densely populated and covered an area of some 13 hectares. Construction of the roads was only made possible by extensive drainage of the marshes, bridging the eyots and the embankment of the river inlets and channels.

The southern boundary of Roman Southwark is yet to be defined, but the site would have been located on the very edge of the settlement or just outside. The majority of Roman discoveries in the vicinity of the site consist of Roman inhumation burials, which mainly occur around the perimeter of settlement and along the line of the Roman roads. Also the concentrations of Roman discoveries suggest settlement was focused along the road edges; as seen by a clay and timber building with a gravel yard revealed at 218-224 Borough High Street.
The discoveries of agricultural soils, pits and ditches often indicate the extremity of settlement areas in the Roman period, as at Southwark Bridge and Swan Street, approximately 200m from the site. At the latter site, a system of north to south aligned field ditches dating to the 1st century AD were discovered and one major boundary ditch thought potentially to be associated with the southern boundary of the Roman settlement during AD50/55-80.
Saxon (c. AD 450 - 1066)

There is no archaeological evidence for any significant Saxon occupation in north Southwark until the late ninth century AD. This is not surprising, since a general rise in the level of the Thames had rendered much of the area occupied by the Romans inaccessible to the Saxon immigrants. Physical evidence of the rise in the water level has been confirmed at the north end of Southwark, where significant deposits of dark earth seal Roman layers. By the end of the tenth century AD, Southwark had become an integral southern outpost of London, being described as SUDWERCA, the ‘south work’, to distinguish it from the city’s own defences. No discoveries relating to this period have been recovered within a 200m radius of the development site, and little has been found in Southwark to indicate a permanent settlement, though stray finds have been recovered further north, around Union Street and Southwark Street
Medieval (c. AD 1066 - 1485)
Throughout the medieval period Southwark remained a fairly small but thriving City suburb with the river to the north, Horselydown to the east, Bankside to the west and the church of St. George the Martyr to the south. As with its Roman predecessor, it grew, ribbon-like, along the major roads. A number of findings related to this period are recorded in the Greater London Sites and Monument Record. These consist of pits, ditches and wells, with the occasional medieval pot. One site at 223-237 Borough High Street, less than 200m to the east of the site, revealed a well and a number of 13th-14th century pits. The only indication of earlier medieval buildings is a medieval post hole found at Swan Street and brick arches found during work at Suffolk Place 100m to the north of the site.

Post Medieval (c. 1485–modern)

It was during the Tudor period that Suffolk Place was constructed. This was the palace built by Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk (1485-1545), the brother-in-law of Henry VIII. Suffolk Place was later taken over by the King, and used as a mint. The exact location of the palace is unknown, but it is likely to have been situated very close to, or even on, the site. This is also inferred by modern street names in close proximity to the site, Mint Street to the north and Great Suffolk Street to the south.
Historic maps provide an idea of the sites previous uses. The Rocque map of 1746 reveals that Lant Street at this time was not in existence, the site is occupied by gardens and an orchard. However Horwood’s map of 1799-1819 demonstrates that the site was gradually undergoing development. The forerunner of Lant Street, known as New Lant Street and Old Lant Street had been laid out, the site was occupied by a number of buildings to the north, with an expanse of courtyard to the rear.

During the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries there was much industrial development within the Southwark area. Southwark was an area well suited for industry, given the proximity to the rail and shipping routes, being close to the City, and having a large supply of labour. As the district lacked a great deal of open space, such factories and warehouses were often slotted in to existing open land, when it became available (Reilly, 1998). 

3
STRATEGY

3.1

Aims of the Investigation

The general and specific aims of the evaluation were as laid out in the brief issued by the London Borough of Southwark Senior Archaeology Officer. The aims were as follows: 

· To establish the presence/absence of archaeological remains within the site.

· To determine the extent, condition, nature, character, quality and date of any archaeological remains encountered.

· To assess the ecofactual and environmental potential of the archaeological features and deposits.

· To determine the presence of any prehistoric artefacts or deposits.

· To determine the presence and nature of Roman archaeological deposits on the site, particularly evidence for Stane Street associated structures, burials etc.

· To determine the presence of any medieval, including evidence of activity associated with the nearby estate of the Duke of Suffolk, or post-medieval activity relating to land reclamation. 

· To determine the presence and nature of any post-medieval remains on the site.
· To determine a topographic and environmental profile of the site, to further refine the predictive models of the site.

· To make available to interested parties the results of the investigation subject to any confidentiality restrictions.

3.2
Methodology (Figure 2)

A site code was obtained from the London Archaeological Advisory Centre (LAARC) for a series of geotechnical observations during 2003. The site code was retained for the evaluation (LTU 03).

Three trenches were located as shown in Figure 2. Trench 1 was 20m long; trenches 2 and 3 were both 10m long at base, although massive immovable foundations to the north of the site resulted in Trench 1 being excavated in small sections where foundations allowed.

To facilitate access to depth of archaeological deposits greater than 1.00m deeper than current ground level, the trenches were stepped as necessary, to comply with current Health and Safety recommendations.


A toothless ditching bucket was used during the removal of overburden as far as was practical, carried out under the constant supervision of the Archaeological Project Officer. Where significant concrete foundations obstructed the trenches, all attempts were made to remove the obstacles using a breaker, but parts of Trench 1 remained inaccessible. Groundwater at the north end of Trench 1, coupled with a depth of 2.50m below ground surface, meant that part of the trench had to backfilled soon after recording.

A full written and drawn record was completed for each trench. Context numbers were allocated to each deposit and heights for each context were established relative to Ordnance Datum (OD). A benchmark was provided on site by the demolition company of 4.80m OD, located part way up one of the boundary walls of the site. Black and white and colour photographic record shots were taken of the trenches. 


A site meeting was held upon completion of the evaluation and Sarah Gibson, the London Borough of Southwark Senior Archaeology Officer, requested that a watching brief be carried out during the removal of modern concrete and brick intrusions which was the final phase of the demolition programme. It was also necessary to prepare the pile line for the pile wall that will border the site, and a watching brief was also carried out during that work. It was agreed at that meeting that no work beyond this probing and grubbing out would commence before submission of this report and a decision being made on any necessary further work. The results of this watching brief are included in this report (section 4.4).


All of the work was carried out in line with Archaeological Guidance Paper (AGP): 3, Standards and Practices in Archaeological Fieldwork (English Heritage June 1998). Sarah Gibson, the London Borough of Southwark Senior Archaeology Officer monitored the work. 

4
RESULTS

4.1
Trench 1
Excavation of Trench 1 was limited by a number of obstructions: mostly deep concrete foundations that it proved impossible to move. In-flowing water at the northern end of the trench was seen to be undermining the edges of the trench, making access perilous.
Trench 1 was oriented northeast southwest, to the north of the site, parallel to the eastern site limit and was 22m long. The width varied to accommodate modern intrusions. The lowest deposit encountered in Trench 1 was a layer of pale brown sandy silt over 0.20m deep (1004) of probable alluvial origin at 2.60m OD. It was not possible to excavate deeper to locate terrace gravel, since fragments of human bone were identified within this layer at 2.40m OD. The trench was inundated with water before it could be determined whether these came from an in-situ burial or were individual redeposited bones. No further excavation was undertaken due to this water. 
To the south of the trench, similar pale brown sandy silt was identified in a hand-dug sondage at 1.94m OD (1009), and this is assumed to be the same as 1004, that is an early Roman alluvial deposit into which features were cut. A deposit above this silt was of similar composition, but considerably darker, being mid greyish brown (1012). The surface of this deposit was recorded at 2.42m OD. This contained a large quantity of Roman finds, including roof tile (both tegula and imbrex was present) and other building materials as well as sherds of imported and local pottery and animal bone. The quantity of finds suggests that this is part of a feature; perhaps a pit or a ditch, and the presence of roofing materials may be indicative of a Roman building in the vicinity.

In both parts of the trench, the Roman horizon was sealed by a thick deposit of dark brown sandy silt (1003 and 1011) that was quite organic in character and contained pottery from the Roman, medieval and post-medieval periods with the majority dating to between 1580 and 1800; the earlier pieces came from the north of the trench. This deposit had clearly been reworked in the post-medieval period, and possibly during the medieval period too. Within this layer was a small copper disc (SF4) which may be a coin or a token and a copper alloy pin (SF3), possibly from a brooch. A second layer of dark brown sandy silt was identified at the north of the trench, thought to survive because of a lesser level of horizontal truncation (1002) than at the south. Above this was a horizon of demolition material (1001) predating a concrete slab laid across the site, which was rich in stoneware bottles from the early twentieth century.
Much of the area was inaccessible for excavation, due to several deep foundations comprising of concrete, brick and stone. These included two rectangular foundation pads, almost piles, measuring 1.20m by 1.60m and 1.20m by 1.20m respectively (1007), a sub-basement composed of engineering bricks, concrete and iron struts (1006), and an area of concrete slabs over 1.50m deep for over 9m long and four metres wide(1005) at 4.94mOD.
4.2 Trench 2
Trench 2 was located to the rear of the site, and was oriented northeast-southwest, and measured 10m by 2m at base. The lowest deposit identified was pale brownish yellow sand with bands of rounded gravel (2015). This natural gravel was recorded at 2.16m OD in the centre of the trench, dropping to 1.91m OD to the south.
Above the gravel and sand deposits was a layer of pale brown sandy silt (2014) up to 0.40m deep of alluvial origin. Roman pottery and daub were collected from this deposit. This deposit was at 2.52m OD, dropping to 2.31m OD to the south. An inhumation (Burial 1) was found oriented northwest-southeast (2010), its head at the north-western end of the grave (2008), at a height of 2.14m OD. Enough of the skeleton was exposed to determine its extent and reveal the condition, which was good. The skull was thought to be complete, although the top was in a fragmentary state. The fill of the grave (2011) was virtually identical to the sandy silt it was cutting, although a little softer. No finds were apparent within the grave, although without full excavation, the presence of grave-goods could not be accurately determined.
The next feature identified in the archaeological sequence was a ditch 3.15m wide and 0.82m deep, with concave sides and a rounded base (2013). This cut as deep as the terrace gravels at the base of the sequence, and seems most likely to be a drainage ditch of early post-medieval date. It was filled with an almost stone-free deposit of brown sandy silt (2012) and contained few finds; the pottery indicates a date of 1550-1700 for its closure. 
As with the Roman inhumations, the level that the ditch was cut from could not be determined due to reworking of the deposit above. This was a thick layer of very dark greyish brown sandy silt with high organic content (2009), and contained finds including animal bone, 17th century pottery and clay tobacco pipes. There were no variations apparent throughout this layer, and it seems likely that this deposit was the result of horticulture or agriculture activity between the 17th and the 19th century. This deposit was up to 0.75m deep, and therefore must have undergone regular reworking and improving throughout its use. 
Cutting the 2009 was a series of foundations. The earliest of these was a red-brick footing running southwest-northeast (2005), with a floor of crushed chalk and brick rubble to its east (2007). This extended beyond the trench to the north and east: the southern part of the footing was truncated by more modern foundations consisting of a drain encased in concrete (2006) and two substantial footings of yellow brick and concrete from the most recent building on site (2004 and 2003). Associated with these buildings was a layer of brick rubble (2002) which probably derived from the building associated with the red-brick foundations and also provided hardcore for a concrete slab 0.60m deep above (2001). This lay at 4.40m OD.
4.3
Trench 3
Trench 3 was located to the rear of site and oriented northeast-southwest, parallel to the eastern-most perimeter of the site and measured 10m by 2m at base. The lowest deposit identified lay at 2.11m OD, and was pale brownish yellow sand with high gravel content (3027). This was natural sand and gravel as recorded elsewhere on site. 
Sealing the terrace gravel, and across the whole of the trench, was a layer of yellowish brown silty sand (3010/ 3020/ 3023 and 3024) recorded at 2.38m OD which was thought to be alluvial deposition during the Roman period. Occasional pottery fragments and an iron bolt (SF1) within the layer prove an anthropogenic origin, possibly through erosion of a dump of Roman refuse upstream. Two graves were cut into this silty sand, although the level they were cut from could not be determined due to later disturbance. A third feature contained human bone, but was very heavily truncated in both planes, and its character could not be fully determined.
Both of the graves had suffered horizontal truncation, but enough survived to determine they were both adults, and were both on the same alignment, northwest-southeast, with the heads to the northwest. Small areas of each inhumation were exposed to determine their character and extent. The better-surviving of the inhumations (3011, Burial 2) had been truncated above the chest, and appeared to be lying supine. The left humerus was identified, as were both femurs and parts of the lower left leg. The fill of a post-medieval feature less than a metre to the north (3018) contained cranial fragments and parts of a band of copper alloy (SF2) and it is may be that these fragments came from this grave. The highest part of the remains was recorded at 2.44m OD. 
The second inhumation in Trench 3 (3028, Burial 3) appeared to be far more truncated. Only part of the right leg was exposed, and further excavation was limited to determining whether this was part of an articulated skeleton or a single bone. The femur, tibia and beginning of the ankle were identified, and there were occasional iron stains seen during cleaning that may have been evidence for coffin nails. The fills of the graves were identical in composition to the sandy silt through which they were dug, and therefore not immediately visible. The highest part of the skeleton lay at 2.33m OD.
The third feature cutting the Roman alluvial horizon measured 0.45m by 0.18m and was just 0.08m deep (3013). Very fragmentary parts of the pelvis of a young adult were among the fill (3012), but these were the only skeletal elements, the rest being lost to later intrusions (3014). It could not be fully determined whether this was the site of a third inhumation or a feature that included disarticulated human bone.
Sealing these inhumations was a 0.4m thick layer of very dark brown sandy silt with high organic content (3007). The layer was very homogenous, and little variation could be seen. It contained pieces of animal bone and oyster shell, and resembled an agricultural or horticultural soil. Pottery finds from this deposit spanned Roman and medieval to 18th century date, indicating reworking of the deposit. Further proof of this was a series of parallel planting trenches running east west, cutting into the Roman-date alluvium below and also disturbing the inhumations. These trenches (3015 filled by 3014, 3017 filled by 3016, 3009 filled by 3008 and 3018, 3025 and 3026) were up to 0.47m deep. A sherd of possible Iron Age pottery was collected from one of these features (3018).
Above this agricultural soil was a very similar deposit, a shade darker and 0.42m thick, possibly representing a second phase of agriculture or horticulture activity (3006). This was recorded at 3.13m OD and was sealed by a rubble horizon of fragmentary red bricks and mortar fragments (3005). It is likely that the structures represented by this demolition horizon were contemporary with the upper garden soil deposit.
A deep foundation made of yellow bricks bonded with cement that was part of a basement (3021) cut through the centre of the trench into the natural sand and gravel. This was sealed by layers of hardcore and demolition material (3003 and 3004), and topped by a concrete slab at 4.40m OD that formed the surface during the most recent occupancy (3002).
4.4
Watching Brief Results

Following the excavation of the evaluation trenches, a programme of ground-probing was undertaken, to clear the ground for a sheet-piling around the perimeter of the new building. This entailed removing intrusive brick and concrete foundations that lay along the line of the piles. A watching brief was conducted in all areas necessary, and it was seen that most of the foundations were established above the Roman inhumation horizon. No archaeological features were disturbed during the removal of the foundations. 
4.5
Finds

The finds assemblage from the evaluation trenches contained pottery, building materials, animal bone, metal objects and clay tobacco pipes. Much of the medieval and Roman material came from deposits reworked from the 16th century onwards.
The alluvial silt and the fill of the feature from Trench 1 contained an interesting finds assemblage that include diagnostic sherds of Roman pottery including fragments of amphora, Samian ware and locally produced vessels. Building material collected included roof tile and daub, indicating that there may have been a building in the vicinity. 
Four ‘small finds’ (SF) were registered during the excavations the details of which are summarised below:
	Context
	SF No.
	Material
	Object
	Comments

	3010
	1
	Iron
	Bolt
	Corroded 

	3018
	2
	Cu+
	Band
	Disturbed grave-good?

	1011
	3
	Cu+
	Coin/token
	Animal motif

	1003
	4
	Cu+
	Pin
	Brooch pin?


4.6
Summary Report on the Inhumations

Burial 1: Context 2010
The head area, shoulders, and part of the right femur were exposed, the burial continuing beyond the limit of excavation. Although the whole of the skeleton was not revealed, a height of 1.60m was indicated. The body was supine. The bones were in good condition, with many of the skeletal elements present. The cranium was slightly crushed in the ground, and had collapsed inwards. This was an adult burial. No grave goods were apparent.

Burial 2: Context 3011
The head area, shoulders and right arm had been truncated by post-medieval planting trenches; the lower parts of the body seemed to be present. There were no grave goods apparent, but skull fragments and a copper object (SF 2) from nearby may have derived from this grave. The height of the individual may have been around 1.60m, although with much of the body missing, this can only be an estimate. This was an adult burial.

Burial 3: Context 3028
This burial was very heavily truncated by post-medieval planting trenches, leaving nothing above the tops of the femurs. Only part of the right leg was exposed, and a clean of the surrounding area undertaken. There were small iron-rich stains observed that may have been evidence of a coffin. The size of the right femur suggested this was an adult. 

All human remains were left in situ and were recorded and located before being carefully backfilled beneath soft fill material.

5
CONCLUSIONS 

The evaluation and subsequent watching brief during the removal of intrusions successfully characterised the archaeological survival on the site.
5.1 Topography

The terrace gravels that underlie the archaeological deposits were recorded at 2.16m OD at the east of the site, dropping to 1.91m OD at the south. They were not located in Trench 1, to the north, so the form of pre-Roman landscape has not been fully identified beyond revealing a gentle slope dropping southwards. Whether this was a channel between the gravel islands of Southwark in the prehistoric period was not determined, but the later alluvial wash suggests that it was low-lying.
5.2
Roman features

At least some of the alluvial silt that seals the terrace gravel was clearly deposited during the Roman period, as shown by occasional finds within. It was recorded at 2.52m OD in Trench 2, dropping to 2.38m OD to the east of the site, and to 2.11m OD at the north.
Each of the three confirmed inhumations - one in Trench 2 and two in Trench 3 - are on the same northwest-southeast alignment, with the heads to the north east The consistency of orientation suggests a regularity of burial practices, although the distribution of the graves appears to sparse, if the evaluation trenches may be considered as representative of the site. 

The concentration of finds from a sondage in Trench 1 indicate a probable feature, perhaps either a pit or a ditch, but its extent was not verified. 
5.3
Post-Medieval features
There were several phases of post-medieval activity identified during the evaluation. The earliest of these was the establishment of a ditch at the south of the site. The function of this ditch is either a property boundary, or a drainage ditch.
The map of London by John Rocque from 1747 shows the area of Lant Street to have been an orchard, and this would account for the depth of agricultural or horticultural soil seen in all trenches. Planting trenches are also identified on the map, these are probably those recorded in Trench 3.
By the beginning of the 19th century, Lant Street had been established, and the red brick foundations seen to survive between later foundations across the site are likely to date to this period. The later concrete and yellow brick foundations are very sturdily built, and belong to industrial buildings erected during the twentieth century.
6
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER WORK
The presence of Roman inhumations on the site means that further work in the form of excavation will be necessary in order to remove those remains in line with the Burial Act 1857. It is a criminal offence under Section 25 of the Burial Act 1857 to remove any human remains from any place of burial without a licence or to do so in breach of any condition attached to the licence. An application for a burial licence must be made to the Secretary of the State (the Home Office). 

The site does not contain any Scheduled Ancient Monuments, and the surviving archaeological features would not appear to meet the Secretary of State’s published criteria for defining sites of national importance (PPG 16 Annex A). Arrangements for the preservation in situ need are not required to comply with the archaeological condition applied to the current planning permission. A programme of further excavation will be required, however. 

The scope and extent of further excavation work should be designed and agreed with Sarah Gibson, the London Borough of Southwark Senior Archaeology Officer. It is recommended that Southwark Council prepare a brief outlining the works that might be required in order to secure discharge of the planning condition. AOC would prepare a Written Scheme of Investigation, based on the Southwark brief, leading to further programme of agreed excavation works. 
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APPENDIX A: Context Register
	Context
	Context Description
	Length
	Width
	Depth
	Finds

	1001
	Made Ground
	6.50m
	Trench
	0.81m
	

	1002
	Improved soil
	6.50m
	Trench
	1.01m
	

	1003
	Improved soil
	6.50m
	Trench
	1.00m
	Pot, CTP, bone, metal

	1004
	Alluvial silt
	6.50m
	Trench
	0.15m
	

	1005
	Foundation
	15.50m
	Trench
	1.50m
	

	1006
	Cellar
	3.50m
	3.40m
	1.10m
	

	1007
	Foundation
	3.00m
	1.20m
	2.20m
	

	1008
	Floor
	2.00m
	0.50m
	0.40m
	

	1009
	Alluvial silt
	0.60m
	0.60m
	0.32m
	

	1010
	Demolition deposit
	2.00m
	0.60m
	0.54m
	

	1011
	Improved soil
	2.00m
	0.60m
	0.96m
	Pot,  CTP, bone, CBM, metal

	1012
	Roman feature
	0.60m
	0.60m
	0.46m
	Pot, bone, CBM, metal

	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	

	2001
	Modern surface
	Trench
	Trench
	0.60m
	

	2002
	Demolition deposit
	Trench
	Trench
	1.00m
	

	2003
	Foundation
	Trench
	1.00m
	Not exc.
	

	2004
	Foundation
	Trench
	0.90m
	Not exc.
	

	2005
	Foundation
	7.00m
	0.48m
	0.35m
	

	2006
	Drain
	Trench
	0.82m
	0.52m
	

	2007
	Sub-floor
	7.00m
	0.80m
	0.23m
	

	2008
	Grave cut
	1.20m
	0.50m
	Not exc.
	

	2009
	Improved Soil
	Trench
	Trench
	0.92m
	Pot, CBM, CTP, bone

	2010
	Inhumation
	1.15m
	0.40m
	Not exc.
	

	2011
	Fill of 2008
	1.20m
	0.50m
	Not exc.
	

	2012
	Fill of 2013
	Trench
	2.50m
	0.82m
	Port, CBM, bone

	2013
	Ditch
	Trench
	3.95m
	0.82m
	

	2014
	Alluvial silt
	1.1m
	0.35m
	0.48m
	Pot CBM

	2015
	Terrace gravel
	Trench
	0.36m
	Not exc.
	

	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	

	3001
	Demolition deposit 
	Trench
	Trench
	0.15m
	

	3002
	Concrete floor
	Trench
	Trench
	0.05m
	

	3003
	Hardcore
	Trench
	Trench
	0.20m
	

	3004
	Demolition deposit 
	Trench
	Trench
	0.16m
	

	3005
	Demolition deposit
	Trench
	Trench
	0.14m
	

	3006
	Improved soil
	Trench
	Trench
	0.14m
	Pot, CBM, CTP

	3007
	Improved soil
	Trench
	Trench
	0.36m
	

	3008
	Fill of 3009
	4.00m
	0.30m
	0.39m
	

	3009
	Planting trench
	4.00m
	0.30m
	0.39m
	

	3010
	Alluvial silt
	Trench
	Trench
	0.20m
	Metal 

	3011
	Inhumation
	1.30m
	0.36m
	Not exc.
	

	3012
	Fill of 3013
	0.60m
	0.20m
	0.10m
	Pot 

	3013
	Small pit/ inhumation?
	0.60m
	0.20m
	0.10m
	

	3014
	Fill of 3015
	4.00m
	0.45m
	0.39m
	

	3015
	Planting trench
	4.00m
	0.45m
	0.39m
	

	3016
	Fill of 3017
	4.00m
	0.60m
	0.39m
	

	3017
	Planting trench
	4.00m
	0.60m
	0.39m
	

	3018
	Planting trench
	1.14m
	0.20m
	0.39m
	Pot, CBM, Metal

	3019
	Void
	 
	 
	 
	

	3020
	Alluvial silt
	Trench
	Trench
	0.40m
	

	3021
	Cellar wall
	4.00m
	2.50m
	1.15m
	

	3022
	Fill of cellar
	4.00m
	2.50m
	1.15m
	

	3023
	Alluvial silt
	Trench
	Trench
	0.20m
	

	3024
	Alluvial silt
	Trench
	Trench
	0.20m
	

	3025
	Planting trench
	0.84m
	0.60m
	0.39m
	

	3026
	Planting trench
	0.60m
	0.60m
	0.40m
	

	3027
	Terrace gravel
	2.80m
	1.60m
	Not exc.
	

	3028
	Inhumation
	0.85m
	0.20m
	Not exc.
	


APPENDIX B: FINDS REGISTER

	Context
	Material
	Object Name
	Period
	Reg. Find No.
	Description/Comments

	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	1003
	ceramic
	vessel
	post med
	bulk
	1580-1700

	
	ceramic
	vessel
	Roman
	bulk
	residual

	
	ceramic
	tobacco pipe
	post med
	bulk
	 

	
	copper alloy
	?coin/token
	?
	4
	 animal motif

	
	bone
	animal remains
	post med
	bulk
	 

	
	lead
	object
	?
	bulk
	poss. Window piece

	1011
	ceramic
	vessel
	post med
	bulk
	1580-1800

	
	ceramic
	vessel
	Roman
	bulk
	residual

	
	ceramic
	tobacco pipe
	post med
	bulk
	 

	
	ceramic
	BM
	med+
	bulk
	 

	
	bone
	animal remains
	 
	bulk
	 

	
	copper alloy
	pin
	?
	3
	2 x poss. Brooch pin

	1012
	ceramic
	vessel
	Roman
	bulk
	 

	
	ceramic
	BM
	Roman
	bulk
	 

	
	bone
	animal remains
	Roman
	bulk
	 

	
	iron
	nails
	?
	bulk
	x 3

	2009
	ceramic
	tobacco pipe
	post med
	bulk
	 

	
	ceramic
	vessel
	post med
	bulk
	1590-1800

	
	ceramic
	BM
	post med
	bulk
	 

	
	bone
	animal remains
	post med
	bulk
	 

	2012
	ceramic
	vessel
	post med
	bulk
	1550-1700

	
	ceramic
	vessel
	Roman
	bulk
	residual

	
	ceramic
	BM
	post med
	bulk
	 

	
	bone
	animal remains
	post med
	bulk
	 

	2014
	ceramic
	vessel
	Roman
	bulk
	Roman

	
	ceramic
	daub
	Roman
	bulk
	 

	3006
	ceramic
	vessel
	post med
	bulk
	1580-1800

	
	ceramic
	BM
	med+
	bulk
	 

	3006
	ceramic
	tobacco pipe
	post med
	bulk
	late 1700's-1800

	3010
	iron
	peg/bolt
	?roman
	1
	 

	3012
	ceramic
	vessel
	?roman
	bulk
	 

	3018
	ceramic
	vessel
	post med
	bulk
	1550-1700

	
	ceramic
	vessel
	?
	bulk
	x 1 poss. Iron age

	
	ceramic
	vessel
	Roman
	bulk
	residual

	
	ceramic
	BM
	med+
	bulk
	 

	
	copper alloy
	?
	?
	2
	x 5 bits of same

	T1 u/s
	ceramic
	vessel
	post-med
	bulk
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